# No. 94132.7

# IN THE SUPREME COURT OF THE STATE OF WASHINGTON

Court of Appeals No. 74744-4

FILED

FEB 15 2013

WASHINGTON STATE
SUPREME COURT

CONNIE POTTER,

trustee of the Amended and Restated Fredrick O. Paulsell, Jr. Living Trust dated December 22, 2002,

Petitioner,

v.

JOSEPH MICHAEL GAFFNEY and JANE DOE GAFFNEY, his wife, and DORSEY & WHITNEY, LLP, a Minnesota Limited Liability Partnership,

Respondents.

\_\_\_\_\_

#### PETITION FOR REVIEW

#### INTRODUCTION

When a wrongdoer's act embroils its victim in litigation with a third party, Washington's so-called "ABC Rule" limits when the victim can recover the expense of that litigation by suing the wrongdoer in a follow-on lawsuit. Under that Rule, the victim can recover fees and costs spent in litigation with the third party only if the third party was not "connected with" the wrongdoer's wrongful act. This "connection" element has been applied broadly, so that if the third party has any factual connection to the relationship between the wrongdoer and the victim, the victim cannot recover litigation expenses. *See LK Operating, LLC v. Collection Grp., LLC*, 181 Wn.2d 117, 124–25, 330 P.3d 190 (2014).

This malpractice case arises from Defendant Joseph Gaffney's simultaneous representation of two clients with conflicting interests.

Gaffney negligently took one client's side against the other, thereby embroiling the two clients in litigation with each other. The question here is whether the ABC Rule should continue to limit the wronged client from recovering the expenses of that litigation. This Court has suggested that it would be open to modifying the ABC Rule as it applies to legal malpractice. *See id.* at 126. The Court should do so, as there is no justification for applying the rule as a bar to recovery on these facts. Under RAP 13.4(b)(1) and (4), this Court should grant review.

#### **IDENTITY OF PETITIONER**

Petitioner is Connie Potter, a Plaintiff below. Potter is the successor-in-interest to former co-Plaintiff and co-trustee Susan Paulsell, who due to her death is no longer a party. *See* Mot. to Substitute Parties Under RAP 3.2, Jan. 17, 2017.

#### CITATION TO COURT OF APPEALS DECISION

The Court of Appeals' decision, filed December 19, 2016, is attached as Appendix A to this Petition. The Court of Appeals' January 12, 2017 denial of a motion for publication and reconsideration is attached as Appendix B.

#### ISSUE PRESENTED FOR REVIEW

Where an attorney represents two persons with conflicting interests without a conflict waiver, and where the attorney's negligence proximately causes litigation between the two clients but not involving the attorney, can one of the clients, through a separate legal-malpractice action, recover any of the expenses incurred in that earlier litigation?

#### STATEMENT OF FACTS AND PROCEDURE

#### I. Facts

A. Susan Paulsell and Fred Paulsell III retain Defendant Gaffney.

Frederick Paulsell, Jr. ("Fred Jr.") died unexpectedly. He was survived by his widow, Susan Paulsell ("Susan"), along with Frederick

Paulsell III ("Fred III"), Fred Jr.'s son by a previous marriage, among other children. There were questions about the validity and scope of the simple will that Fred Jr. executed shortly before his death—a will that left all his possessions to Susan and nothing to Fred III. See CP 79, ¶ 6.

Gaffney agreed to represent both Susan and Fred III. CP 456 at 14:7–16;

CP 457 at 15:4–7. Gaffney never requested or received a conflict waiver despite Susan's and Fred III's divergent interests. See CP 251, ¶¶ 15–16.

#### B. Gaffney drafts a Trust agreement.

Gaffney drafted and recommended that Susan enter into a trust agreement ("Trust"), which she did. Fred III and Susan were named cotrustees. CP 108, § 2.4. The Trust provided that distributions of both income and principal would be made to Susan to allow her to continue in her "accustomed manner of living." CP 107, § 2.2. It also provided that any assets remaining at Susan's death would be distributed to Susan's and Fred Jr.'s children, including Fred III. CP 107, § 2.3.

#### C. Gaffney's Trust accounting leads to litigation.

In 2008, about six years after the Trust was created, Fred III and Susan jointly asked Gaffney to prepare an accounting of the Trust's receipts and disbursements. CP 41, ¶ 2.11. Gaffney's accounting claimed that Susan—still a client—owed the Trust *over \$3 million*. CP 255.

But the accounting was flawed. It not only failed to account for

over \$1.8 million that Susan had paid into the Trust, CP 279, but also overlooked the very language that Gaffney himself had drafted. The Trust agreement provided that Susan was entitled to payments from the Trust that would be "sufficient to provide for [Susan's] support in her accustomed manner of living," such payments being made "in the trustee's absolute discretion." CP 107, § 2.2. Gaffney's accounting, however, assumed that there was an unstated limitation in the Trust agreement providing that the residuary beneficiaries—Susan's and Fred Jr.'s children—would receive something after Susan's death. CP 361–62.

Gaffney's advice forced Susan to hire another attorney, who concluded that the accounting was negligent and that Susan owed the Trust nothing. CP 250, ¶¶ 9, 11. Meanwhile, Fred III, in his capacity as co-trustee and relying on Gaffney's accounting, had frozen the Trust's assets and prohibited Susan from taking any disbursements. See CP 810 (accounting led to Fred III's suspension of distributions to Susan).

To resolve this dispute, Susan and the Trust had to file a declaratory-judgment action against Fred III in Oregon (the "Multnomah County action"). CP 250, ¶¶ 10–11. Gaffney continued to press a position directly adverse to Susan, maintaining that she owed the Trust a significant sum of money. He even drafted and signed a declaration on behalf of Fred III in the litigation. CP 438, ¶ 17.

## D. The court presiding over the Trust litigation rejects Gaffney's accounting.

The court in the Multnomah County action rejected Gaffney's position. It found that Susan "owe[d] the trust nothing," because she had no duty to manage the Trust assets to provide for herself for her entire life, let alone a duty to manage the assets so that Fred III and the other children would receive anything after her death. CP 807, 809, 811.

The court also removed Fred III as co-trustee. CP 811. In his place, the court appointed Plaintiff Connie Potter, a professional fiduciary, to be Susan's co-trustee. CP 242–43, ¶ 1.

During the litigation, the Multnomah County court also expressed its disappointment in Gaffney, lamenting the "bad supervision, with respect to the legal profession," that both parties had received. CP 534. If they had received "a better plan and some direction," the court said, "I don't think you would be here." CP 534.

After its judgment, the court awarded attorney fees and costs. It noted that "Susan consistently made reasonable overtures to attempt a less costly resolution," and it recognized her "consistent efforts to minimize continued litigation." CP 801–02. The court therefore directed the Trust to reimburse all of Susan's litigation expenses, deeming them "reasonable in all respects." CP 802. It directed Fred III to reimburse the Trust for a

portion of Susan's expenses. CP 802. And it directed the Trust to reimburse Fred III for payments he had made to a firm that had performed an accounting to which the both Fred III and Susan had agreed. CP 244, 802. The Trust remains depleted by all of these expenditures.

#### II. Procedural history

Plaintiff's operative complaint asserts claims for legal malpractice and breach of fiduciary duty against Defendants. CP 33–34, ¶ 3.0–4.3. It seeks all damages proximately caused by Defendants' negligence, including attorney fees and costs incurred in the Multnomah County action. CP 34, ¶ 3.1; CP 35.

Defendants sought summary judgment, arguing that under Washington's ABC Rule, Plaintiff could not recover the litigation expenses incurred in the Multnomah County action against Fred III, even if Defendants' negligence proximately caused Plaintiff to incur those fees. In response, Plaintiff argued that the ABC Rule should not continue to limit clients from recovering attorney fees incurred in another litigation proximately caused by their attorney's negligence. CP 230–32.

At the summary judgment hearing, the trial court "wonder[ed] whether . . . the ABC Rule has morphed into something that was not intended." RP 10:13–15. It was troubled by the ABC Rule's requirement that, in order for Plaintiff to recover, Fred III must have no factual

connection with the wrong that Gaffney committed against Plaintiff. "I understand that is the law," the court said, "but I can't understand why it's the law." RP 30:2–4 (emphasis added). Nevertheless, the court concluded that the ABC Rule prevented Plaintiff from recovering past litigation expenses, RP 34–35, and granted Defendants summary judgment.

Plaintiffs filed a notice of appeal with this Court, which transferred the case to the Court of Appeals. That court reversed the dismissal of Plaintiff's breach-of-fiduciary-duty claim, but affirmed the dismissal of Plaintiff's legal-malpractice claim, ruling that under the ABC Rule, Plaintiff did not suffer "legally compensable damages." App. A at 13. The court denied a motion to publish and for partial reconsideration. App. B.

#### **ARGUMENT**

I. It conflicts with Shoemake ex rel. Guardian v. Ferrer to allow a negligent attorney to embroil two of his clients in litigation with each other, and then to escape liability for the expenses of that litigation.

This case presents the Court with an opportunity to reconcile two doctrines that, in their present forms, are logically irreconcilable. Under one doctrine, compensatory damages may account for the attorney fees that a culpable attorney has caused his client to pay in an earlier lawsuit against a third person. Under the current scope of the ABC Rule, however, clients may not recover these attorney fees as damages if—indeed especially if—that lawsuit was against another client of that same

attorney. Review is warranted to resolve this conflict in precedent. RAP 13.4(b)(1).

Here, the Court of Appeals held that Plaintiff was not entitled to litigation expenses incurred in the Multnomah County action because the American Rule barred the recovery of attorney fees as costs or damages. App. A at 11. The ABC Rule was "an exception to the American Rule," *id.*, but the ABC Rule did not allow Plaintiff to recover attorney fees incurred in the Multnomah County action, *id.* at 11–12, because Fred III, the opposing litigant in that action, was factually connected with Gaffney's negligence, as he was also Gaffney's client.

To reach this conclusion, the Court of Appeals relied on *LK*Operating, which applied the ABC Rule to legal malpractice. There, a
lawyer, Powers ("A"), violated his duties by entering into a joint venture
agreement with a client, Fair ("B"), and another client, LKO ("C").

LKO later sued Fair. The Court stated that the ABC Rule barred an award
of attorney fees to Fair as consequential damages because the other client,
LKO, was factually connected to Powers' wrongful action as Fair's fellow
client and joint venturer. 181 Wn.2d at 124. And, in the course of coming
to this conclusion, the Court noted in passing that "Washington State
courts follow the 'American Rule"—thus suggesting, although not stating
explicitly, that to the extent the ABC Rule limited the recovery of attorney

fees as damages in legal malpractice cases, it was simply an application of the American Rule. *Id.* at 123.

This statement was dictum, since the foundations of the ABC Rule were not at issue in *LK Operating*. Indeed, as this Court noted, the parties had proceeded on the assumption that the ABC Rule applied to legal malpractice actions, and the plaintiffs themselves had argued to the trial court that the ABC Rule applied. *See id.* ("[Plaintiffs] asserted only one basis on which [their] damages were compensable—the ABC Rule."); *see also id.* at 126 (noting the plaintiffs' request to "craft a new or modified equitable rule . . . in legal malpractice actions," but declining to reach the issue because it was raised for the first time on appeal).

Still, this dictum was one that the Court of Appeals repeated and applied here. App. A at 11. And the dictum is correct only if the American Rule bars the recovery of attorney fees as consequential damages simply because they *are* attorney fees—even if the fees sought were incurred not in the present suit, but in an earlier suit against a different party, and as a direct result of the present defendant's negligence. At least in legal malpractice, this assumption about the American Rule is incorrect, given the reasoning of *Shoemake ex rel. Guardian v. Ferrer*, 168 Wn.2d 193, 225 P.3d 990 (2010).

Shoemake indicates that the American Rule provides no barrier to

awarding attorney fees incurred outside the legal malpractice action itself if the need to pay those fees flowed proximately from attorney negligence. In *Shoemake*, the defendant attorney's negligence had prevented his clients from entering into a settlement. The attorney argued that any award to his clients should equal the settlement the clients should have received, minus the fee he would have received if he had not been negligent. This Court rejected that argument. It declined to deduct the negligent attorney's contingent fee from the injured clients' damages because the clients had to pay another attorney to do what the negligent attorney had failed to do. *Id.* at 201. In calculating the clients' damages, *Shoemake* intended to compensate them for the fees they had to pay a second attorney.

Thus, in its reasoning, *Shoemake* refused to exclude the second attorney's fees from the clients' damages—and there is no economic or logical difference between refusing to exclude the expenses of a separate litigation from damages and including those expenses in damages. Here, like the plaintiffs in *Shoemake*, Plaintiff asks that her damages include the expenses incurred, in a separate litigation, to correct Defendant Gaffney's negligent work. Denying Plaintiff those damages—a remedy that will make Plaintiff whole—conflicts with the reasoning of *Shoemake*.

After all, if *Shoemake* had applied the ABC Rule, it would have reached a different result. In *Shoemake*, the injured clients paid a second

attorney to pursue a claim against the very insurance company whose settlement offer the negligent attorney had earlier failed to communicate to the clients. *Id.* at 196. Because the insurance company was thus "inextricably linked to the attorney['s] wrongful conduct," the ABC Rule would have forbidden the clients to be compensated for their second attorney's fees. *LK Operating*, 181 Wn.2d at 124–25 (citation and internal quotation marks omitted). Yet *Shoemake*'s reasoning took those fees into account in determining the correct measure of damages.

Indeed, *Shoemake*'s express language conflicts with the result that the Court of Appeals reached here. *Shoemake* flatly rejected the argument that the American Rule could bar recovery for attorney fees incurred outside the legal malpractice action itself, so long as they were the foreseeable consequences of attorney negligence. On this point, this Court favorably quoted the Court of Appeals decision that it was affirming:

Crediting the negligent attorney with fees through a mechanistic application of the "American rule" fails to account for the fact that both the negligent attorney's fees and the fees of replacement counsel are being incurred for the same service.

168 Wn.2d at 200–01 (quoting *Shoemake v. Ferrer*, 143 Wn. App. 819, 829, 182 P.3d 992 (2008)). This language speaks directly to this case, where Susan and Fred III sought advice from Gaffney, who then negligently took the side of Fred III to the disadvantage of Susan. This left

Susan with no option other than to retain new counsel to correct Gaffney's erroneous conclusion—including, as proved necessary, through litigation.

Most fundamentally, denying recovery of attorney fees that were incurred because of an attorney's negligence defeats the purpose of a legal malpractice action: allowing the client to be made whole if injured by legal negligence. In *Shoemake*, the make-whole principle in *Shoemake* required accounting for the Shomakes' need to hire a second attorney to correct the first attorney's negligence. The same principle guided the Court's decision in *Schmidt v. Coogan*, which allowed emotional damages for legal malpractice where foreseeable because the "measure of damages is the amount of loss actually sustained as a proximate result of the attorney's conduct." 181 Wn.2d 661, 670, 335 P.3d 424 (2014) (citation and internal quotation marks omitted). Likewise, here, Plaintiff cannot be made whole if she is denied the fees paid to repair Gaffney's negligence.

The Court should grant this petition to address the conflict between *Shoemake* and the current contours of the ABC Rule.

II. It raises an issue of substantial public interest to allow negligent attorneys to escape liability for one of the most predictable consequences of attorney negligence: the litigation that is necessary to correct that negligence.

As Plaintiff will explain below, the ABC Rule has perverse consequences in the legal-malpractice context, and has the effect of

carving out a special exception for negligent attorneys. If a common-law rule is to have such harmful consequences, it at least deserves an explanation. But the ABC Rule, and particularly its "connection" requirement, has never received a reasoned justification. This Court now has the opportunity to examine, for the first time, whether the ABC Rule's current contours should mark the limit to compensable damages in legal-malpractice actions. Review is warranted under RAP 13.4(b)(4).

A. The ABC Rule's perverse consequences—and its creation of a loophole for negligent attorneys—raise an issue of substantial public interest.

When A wrongs B, embroiling B in litigation with C, the ABC Rule requires B to show that C was not "connected with" the original wrong. This "connection" requirement requires B to show that C did not have any factual connection to the relationship between A and B. *See LK Operating, LLC*, 181 Wn.2d at 124–25. This requirement has a perverse effect: the more harm an attorney does, the more likely the attorney is to escape liability.

To see why, suppose that an attorney's negligence embroils a client in litigation with a completely unrelated third person. In that event, the ABC Rule's connection requirement would allow recovery. Now contrast that case with this one, where an attorney's negligence embroiled two jointly represented clients in litigation with each other. In the first

case, the attorney has wronged only one client. Here, Defendant Gaffney wronged two clients. And here, the connection requirement bars recovery precisely *because* he wronged two clients—because the other client was factually connected with the original negligent advice as one of its recipients. This result makes no sense at all. Recovery for injury is all the more important when negligence has harmed more than one person.

Moreover, if Gaffney were another kind of professional, the rule would not bar recovery for similar expenses. If a botched operation forces a patient to seek out corrective health care, the patient can recover the cost of that corrective care from the physician who botched the first operation. *Bauer v. White*, 95 Wn. App. 663, 669, 976 P.2d 664 (1999). For Washingtonians injured by a negligent attorney, however, the ABC Rule drastically limits recovery simply because a second *attorney* must perform the corrective care. Thus, the result of the ABC Rule is to create a special exception for negligent attorneys. The exception is all the more objectionable because attorney negligence is especially likely to embroil a client in litigation. *See* 3 Ronald E. Mallen, *Legal Malpractice* § 21:18 (2017) (recognizing that clients often incur further attorney fees in trying to "avoid, minimize or reduce" damage proximately caused by lawyer negligence).

The public interest in correcting the ABC Rule's perverse effects,

and in closing the loophole it creates for negligent attorneys, becomes even more substantial in light of this Court's constitutional role.

Supervision of the legal profession "is within the sole province of the judiciary." *Hagan & Van Camp, P.S. v. Kassler Escrow, Inc.*, 96 Wn.2d 443, 453, 635 P.2d 730 (1981). That supervisory duty makes review of this case all the more warranted under RAP 13.4(b)(4).

#### B. The ABC Rule has never received a reasoned justification.

The posture of *LK Operating* meant that this Court was called upon only to apply, and not to justify, the ABC Rule. *LK Operating*, 181 Wn.2d at 126. But there's a strange thing about the ABC Rule: No Washington court has *ever* given a justification for it. And, as Plaintiff will explain, the Rule as presently formulated seems unjustifiable in this context. The Court should grant review to reexamine it.

1. The assumption that the American Rule supports the ABC Rule has never been examined.

The American Rule bars a prevailing party in an action from recovering from the losing party the attorney fees that the prevailing party incurred in *that* action. Thus, if Plaintiff were asking Defendants to reimburse her for the attorney fees she were paying in this legalmalpractice action, the American Rule would squarely apply.

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