RECEIVED SUPREME COURT STATE OF WASHINGTON

CLERK'S OFFICE

4/12/2017 2:50 pm

RECEIVED ELECTRONICALLY

No. 94132-7

IN THE SUPREME COURT OF THE STATE OF WASHINGTON

CONNIE POTTER, Petitioner,

v.

JOSEPH MICHAEL GAFFNEY and JANE DOE GAFFNEY, his wife, and DORSEY & WHITNEY LLP, a Minnesota Limited Liability Partnership,
Respondents.

ANSWER TO PETITION FOR REVIEW

PACIFICA LAW GROUP LLP Paul J. Lawrence, wsba #13557 Matthew J. Segal, wsba #29797 Taki V. Flevaris, wsba #42555 Sarah S. Washburn, wsba #44418 1191 Second Avenue, Suite 2000 Seattle, WA 98101-3404 (206) 245-1700

Attorneys for Respondents JOSEPH MICHAEL GAFFNEY AND JANE DOE GAFFNEY, AND DORSEY & WHITNEY LLP

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

Under Washington law, three separate elements must be met for the equitable indemnity exception to apply. *See, e.g., Haner v. Quincy Farm Chems., Inc.*, 97 Wn.2d 753, 758, 649 P.2d 828 (1982). First, the defendant must have committed a "wrongful act or omission . . . toward" the plaintiff (breach); second, the act must have "expose[d] or involve[d]" plaintiff in litigation with a third party (causation); and finally, the third

¹ This exception is also known as the "ABC Rule," among other names. *Lyzanchuk v. Yakima Ranches Owners Ass'n*, 73 Wn. App. 1, 10, 866 P.2d 695 (1994).

party must not have been "connected with the initial transaction or event" involving defendant's wrongful act (independence). *Id*.

Consistent with the narrow construction of exceptions to the American Rule in Washington, the second element has consistently been understood to require *sole* causation. In other words, defendant's wrongful act must have been the sole proximate cause of the third-party litigation. *See, e.g., Tradewell Grp., Inc. v. Mavis*, 71 Wn. App. 120, 127-28, 857 P.2d 1053 (1993). This narrows the scope of the exception and in part enforces the fundamental principle that a party invoking equity must have "clean hands." *J. L. Cooper & Co. v. Anchor Secs. Co.*, 9 Wn.2d 45, 71-72, 113 P.2d 845 (1941). This element has been applied consistently in Washington for many years and is not challenged by the Trustee here.²

The third element, independence, further narrows the exception by requiring the third party to have been disconnected from the events giving rise to defendant's alleged liability. *See, e.g., Armstrong*, 64 Wn.2d at 195-96. This straightforward limitation serves many purposes, including preventing circumvention of the American Rule in cases involving intersecting tortfeasors (e.g., A and B harm C; C sues A for damages and then B for fees); avoiding circumvention and fee inflation in cases involving interconnected parties with cross-claims (e.g., A, B, and C all

² See, e.g., Blueberry Place Homeowners Ass'n v. Northward Homes, Inc., 126 Wn. App. 352, 359-61, 110 P.3d 1145 (2005); Tradewell, 71 Wn. App. at 127-28 (citing cases).

are parties to a contentious contract; A and B aggressively litigate their cross-claims and then sue C for all fees incurred); and, more broadly, avoiding the complication and expense of litigating these and other issues to determine fee liability among numerous interrelated parties. This element also has been applied consistently for decades.³

2. The equitable indemnity exception should not be expanded in the context of legal malpractice or other tort cases.

The Trustee claims this Court should revisit the above-discussed settled law on the American Rule, particularly the scope of the equitable indemnity exception's independence element. The Trustee urges that this element be either scrapped altogether or substantially expanded in cases involving legal malpractice. The Court should decline this request.

At the outset, the Trustee's request for expansion of equitable indemnity runs contrary to the general principle that exceptions to the American Rule are to be construed narrowly. *See Interlake*, 158 Wn.2d at 561; *Vincent v. Parkland Light & Power Co.*, 5 Wn. App. 684, 686, 491 P.2d 692 (1971) (noting equitable indemnity is a "narrow exception").

Moreover, the request to expand equitable indemnity for legal malpractice is especially groundless. Pet. at 1, 12-18. Legal malpractice is no more likely than other forms of malpractice to result in third-party

³ See, e.g., LK Operating, LLC v. Collection Grp., LLC, 181 Wn.2d 117, 123-25, 330 P.3d 190 (2014); N. Pac. Plywood, Inc. v. Access Road Builders, Inc., 29 Wn. App. 228, 235-37, 628 P.2d 482 (1981); Armstrong, 64 Wn.2d at 195-96.

litigation. As this Court recently observed, it "would be anomalous to award attorney fees in [the legal malpractice] context but not in other tort cases." *Schmidt v. Coogan*, 181 Wn.2d 661, 678, 335 P.3d 424 (2014).

The Trustee is wrong when she asserts that the equitable indemnity exception creates a "loophole" for negligent attorneys as opposed to other types of professionals. *See* Pet. at 14-15. To the contrary, the American Rule and its exceptions apply the same regardless of the type of professional involved. *Compare Kelly v. Foster*, 62 Wn. App. 150, 153-55, 813 P.2d 598 (1991) (holding attorney's client was not entitled to fee award in addition to damages for malpractice), *with Burns v. McClinton*, 135 Wn. App. 285, 291-92, 306, 308-11, 143 P.3d 630 (2006) (reversing fee award against accountant but upholding compensation award for overcharges). As this Court observed in *Schmidt*, it would be unwarranted to treat cases involving legal malpractice differently.

The Trustee fails to appreciate that litigation simply is not a type of "corrective" measure that normally qualifies as a compensable form of damages, whether in the context of legal malpractice or otherwise. Just as the costs of corrective medical care might be compensable, the costs of hiring a second attorney to correct or rewrite a faulty legal document might be recoverable. Under the American Rule, however, the costs of hiring an attorney to *litigate* disputes resulting from alleged professional

malpractice—medical, legal, or otherwise—are appropriately treated differently. Such costs are not recoverable unless equitable indemnity or some other recognized exception applies.

The Trustee argues that one of the justifications for the American Rule is to avoid penalizing a party "for merely defending or prosecuting a lawsuit," asserting that this particular rationale does not apply here. Pet. at 17 (quoting *Fleishmann*, 386 U.S. at 718). But the Trustee overlooks the several other important purposes of the rule that do apply here, including the need to avoid complex and protracted fees litigation, especially in cases involving interconnected parties with cross-claims.

Similarly, the Trustee's claim that no court has "justified" the equitable indemnity exception's independence element ignores how this Court has applied the independence element: regularly, consistently, recently, and in the shadow of the American Rule, which has repeatedly been explained. This Court has amply justified the rule.

The Trustee also argues that the independence element creates "perverse consequences" by benefiting attorneys who harm two clients as opposed to one. Pet. at 13-14. But in cases involving two clients, the element actually hinges on whether both clients were involved at the outset and then litigated a related dispute between them, thus implicating concerns over fee litigation that the American Rule is designed to address.

This distinction is applicable here. Both Susan and Fred III were involved with Dorsey's work, were found to have failed to act properly, and engaged in protracted litigation. They could seek damages resulting from breach of trustee obligations, but their litigation fees are different.

The Trustee next contends the American Rule should be limited to fee requests in the same litigation. Pet. at 15-17. But the American Rule is a longstanding check against the many problems related to awarding fees, including fees from a separate litigation sought as damages. *LK Operating*, 181 Wn.2d at 120, 125 (noting rule covers "fees incurred in a separate litigation"); *McCready*, 131 Wn.2d at 275 (noting "attorney fees are not available as *costs or damages*" (emphasis in original)); *Lovell v. House of the Good Shepherd*, 14 Wash. 211, 214-15, 44 P. 253 (1896) (noting fees "cannot be recovered in a separate action"). If the American Rule applied only to same-suit fees, there would be no need for equitable indemnity in the first place. As already explained, that exception is well-established and narrowly defined to serve important purposes.

The Court of Appeals' recent decision in *Maytown Sand & Gravel LLC v. Thurston Cnty.*, No. 46895-6-II, 2017 WL 1231784 (Wash. Ct. App. Apr. 4, 2017), submitted as a supplemental authority, does not change the analysis. *Maytown* holds fees may be awarded when an "intentional tort" requires "legal action" and the resulting fees are sought

in a "subsequent proceeding." *Id.* at *14. The case involved a request for fees incurred in administrative proceedings against a county that had wrongfully interfered with the plaintiff's development application. *See id.* at *1-5. The court acknowledged "established" exceptions to the American Rule for malicious prosecution, wrongful attachment, and insurance bad faith, and then added an exception for intentional torts. The case did not involve malpractice, negligent torts, third party litigation, or equitable indemnity, the claims at issue here. It simply has no relevance.⁴

The Trustee next argues that the American Rule should not apply when a party has been ordered to pay a separate party's fees and then seeks recoupment, citing *Thomas v. Gaertner*, 56 Wn. App. 635, 638, 784 P.2d 575 (1990). *See* Pet. at 16. As the Court of Appeals held, this issue was never timely raised in this case. *Paulsell*, 2016 WL 7470061 at *6. Thus, the issue cannot be raised in this appeal. RAP 2.5(a); *Herberg v. Swartz*, 89 Wn.2d 916, 925, 578 P.2d 17 (1978). In any event, the fees

-

⁴ For the same reason, *Maytown* does not conflict with the Court of Appeals decision in this case. *See* RAP 13.4(b)(2). In addition to being inapposite, however, the decision is unsupported and erroneous on the merits. For one thing, it relies on precedents that do not support its holding. *See Pleas v. City of Seattle*, 112 Wn.2d 794, 799, 809-10, 774 P.2d 1158 (1989) (merely noting trial court awarded fees as damages before remanding entire award for further proceedings); *Rorvig*, 123 Wn.2d at 861-62 (recognizing exception for slander of title). The decision also conflicts with prior precedent. *See Dempere v. Nelson*, 76 Wn. App. 403, 410, 886 P.2d 219 (1994) (noting that awarding fees for intentional torts would be inconsistent with American Rule and Washington's rejection of punitive damages). Finally, the decision conflicts with the directive that exceptions to the American Rule are construed narrowly.

sought here were incurred by individuals involved with the trust, not by a separate party. Thus, *Thomas* does not apply.⁵

Finally, the Trustee's request for expansion of equitable indemnity ignores the important role of the Legislature in this context. The narrow and restrained application of historical exceptions to the American Rule reflects a respect for legislative judgments in this area and acknowledges that legislatures over time have filled any perceived gaps regarding feeshifting. *See Blue Sky*, 107 Wn.2d at 121 (holding it is for the Legislature and "not the judiciary" to "fashion exceptions to the 'American Rule'").

3. The facts of this case further weigh against revisiting the equitable indemnity exception.

Even if narrowing the equitable indemnity exception's independence element were of substantial public interest, this would not be the case to do so, for three reasons. First, this case lies at the heart of the exception rather than the margins. Susan and Fred III were more than incidentally connected. Their overlapping interests existed before Dorsey became involved, as Dorsey documented in its initial engagement letter. CP 160-61. Both engaged in substantial interactions with one another, sometimes separately, sometimes with Dorsey, and both were found to have contributed to and inflated the expenses in the Oregon litigation.

⁵ The Co-Trustees also attempted for the first time on appeal to distinguish between litigation expenses and accounting fees. The Court of Appeals properly declined to consider this argument. *Paulsell*, 2016 WL 7470061, at *6.

Second, as the Trustee admits, the independence element makes the most sense when "the [third] party in the earlier litigation" was "a participant in the [alleged] tort that proximately caused that litigation." Pet. at 19. And that is what happened here—both Susan and Fred III were active participants in Dorsey's work and were found to have proximately caused and inflated the Oregon litigation. Susan even failed to provide Dorsey with complete information for its accounting. CP 803, 805, 809.

Third, as noted, the Trustee must also show sole causation for the equitable indemnity exception to apply. The Trustee does not object to or even address the sole causation element. Nor did the Co-Trustees argue that Dorsey's malpractice was the sole cause of the Oregon litigation.

Indeed, the Oregon trial court found that both Susan and Fred III bore significant responsibility for the litigation and resulting expense. *See* CP 800-12. Because the Trustee cannot show sole causation, she could not recover *even if* the independence element were narrowed.

B. The Trustee Has Not Established Any Conflict Between the Court of Appeals' Decision and This Court's Precedent.

The Court of Appeals' decision is consistent with well-settled authority limiting recovery of attorney fees as costs or damages in litigation unless certain narrow exceptions apply. This Court has never

called into question the validity of the American Rule or the equitable indemnity exception. Review is not warranted under RAP 13.4(b)(1).

In attempting to demonstrate conflict, the Trustee relies primarily on this Court's decision in *Shoemake ex rel. Guardian v. Ferrer*, 168

Wn.2d 193, 198, 225 P.3d 990 (2010). *Shoemake* does not even address equitable indemnity, let alone create a conflict with the Court of Appeals' decision here. *Shoemake* merely addressed the calculation of malpractice damages from a delayed settlement. The Court refused to deduct the negligent attorney's hypothetical contingent fee from a compensatory damages award. *Id.* at 201. No litigation expenses were awarded and the American Rule did not apply. In fact, the Court explicitly stated it was *not* addressing whether fees could be recovered as damages. *Id.* at 200 n.2.

Further undermining the Trustee's conflict argument, the Trustee acknowledges that the Court of Appeals "relied on *LK Operating*, which applied the ABC Rule to legal malpractice." Pet. at 8. In *LK Operating*, this Court confirmed the scope of equitable indemnity and the independence element. The Court applied these doctrines, as a matter of course, to a tort claim for legal malpractice. *See* 181 Wn.2d at 125-26. The Court rejected one party's argument for a "new or modified" approach because the argument was "raised for the first time on appeal." *Id.* at 126. Nothing in the opinion invited re-visitation of that issue.

The Trustee complains that refusal to award fees fails to make the client whole. Pet. at 12. But this is "nothing more than a restatement of one of the oft-repeated criticisms of the American Rule," which courts have consistently rejected. *Summit Valley Indus., Inc. v. Local 112*, 456 U.S. 717, 725, 102 S. Ct. 2112, 72 L. Ed. 2d 511 (1982) (internal marks omitted); *Dempere*, 76 Wn. App. at 410 (rejecting argument that "make whole" standard supported fee awards for all intentional torts). The American Rule and the "make whole" standard do not conflict and have always coexisted—under the American Rule, fees are different.

The Trustee ignores that Washington law already provides an avenue for awarding attorney fees in legal malpractice cases when equity so requires: the equitable indemnity exception. *See Flint v. Hart*, 82 Wn. App. 209, 224, 917 P.2d 590 (1996) (fees awarded in legal malpractice case because equitable indemnity elements were satisfied). Here, the requirements for equitable indemnity simply have not been met.

VII. CROSS PETITION

If the Court accepts the Trustee's Petition, it should also grant cross-review to address whether the Trustee's breach of fiduciary duty claim was properly dismissed by the trial court, in part because it is untimely as a matter of law. The limitations period for such a claim is three years. *See* RCW 4.16.080(3); *Huff v. Roach*, 125 Wn. App. 724,

729, 106 P.3d 268 (2005). Here, the Co-Trustees filed their complaint in 2012, but argued for disgorgement based solely on Dorsey's 2002 work establishing the Trust. *See* Br. of Apps. at 40-42. That work was complete by May 2007 at the latest. CP 196-98. The request for an accounting in 2008 was distinct from all prior work, and was billed and paid separately. The breach of fiduciary duty claim is thus untimely.

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